
 

 
Telephone Enquiries: , Democratic Services (01254) 380136 
Email:  memberservices@hyndburnbc.gov.uk 
Published on Tuesday, 7 February 2023 

Page 1 of 2  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Planning Committee 
 
Wednesday, 15 February 2023 at 3.00 pm, 
Scaitcliffe House, Ormerod Street, Accrington 
 
Membership 
 
Chair: Councillor Eamonn Higgins 
Vice-Chair:  Councillor Judith Addison 
 
Councillors Mohammad Ayub, Loraine Cox, Paul Cox, Bernard Dawson, June Harrison, 
Susan Hayes, Terry Hurn, Zak Khan, Caroline Montague, Kimberley Whitehead and Noordad Aziz 
 

 

A G E N D A 
 
 

1.   Apologies for Absence, Substitutions, Declarations of Interest and Dispensations   
 
 

2.   Minutes of the Last Meeting  (Pages 3 - 6) 
 

The Minutes of the meeting of the Planning Committee held on the 18th January 
2023 were submitted for approval as a correct record. 
 
Recommended – That the Minutes be received and approved as a correct 
record.  
 

3.   Town and Country Planning Act 1990- Planning Applications for Determination  
(Pages 7 - 34) 
 

The attached report sets out recommended action on the following planning 
applications:- 
 

MUNICIPAL YEAR 2022-2023 

Public Document Pack



 

Page 2 of 2 

 

3A - 11/22/0404 - Land off Blackburn Old Road, Great Harwood, BB6 7UU 
 
Full Application – Outline application - Erection of 7 No glamping pods and 

reception building including access and layout.  

 

3B – 11/22/0388 - Land off Fort Street, Clayton-le-Moors, BB5 5PJ 

 

Full Application - Erection of 6 No. Bungalows 

 
 

4.   Planning Committee Site Visits  (Pages 35 - 36) 
 

To recommended to Members to undertake a site visit to view a number of sites 
where planning applications have been submitted and which will be determined 
by Planning Committee.   
 

 
 



 

 
256 

 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 

 
Wednesday, 18th January, 2023 

 
Present:  Councillor , Councillors Mohammad Ayub, Loraine Cox, Paul Cox, 

Bernard Dawson, June Harrison, Susan Hayes, Terry Hurn, Noordad Aziz, 
Carole Haythornthwaite and Munsif Dad BEM JP 
 

Apologies: Councillors Eamonn Higgins, Zak Khan, Caroline Montague and 
Kimberley Whitehead 

  

 
254 Apologies for Absence, Substitutions, Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 

 

Apologies for absence were submitted for Councillor Eamonn Higgins, Councillor 
Caroline Montague, Councillor Zak Khan and Councillor Kimberley Whitehead.  
 
The following acted as substitute representatives:  
 
Councillor Carole Haythornthwaite for Councillor Zak Khan  
Councillor Munsif Dad for Councillor Kimberley Whitehead  
 
There were no Declarations of Interest or Dispensations declared at the meeting.  
 

255 Minutes of the Last Meeting - 1st November 2022 
 

Simon Prideaux, The Chief Planning and Transportation Officer requested the 

following change in the minutes referring to item 3D.  

 
3D. 11/21/0237 From land off Bolton Avenue Huncoat to land near Pewitt Hall 
Farm, Back Lane, Accrington 
 

Proposed works for and use of replacement section of aqueduct, including 

earthworks and ancillary infrastructure including: a new valve house building within 

fenced compound with permanent vehicular access provision; installation of a 

tunnel shaft and an open cut connection area within a temporary construction 

compound, to include site access, storage areas, plant and machinery, drainage 

infrastructure and a temporary replacement football club car park. In addition, mine 

grouting works, with associated highway works, to facilitate main tunnelling works. 

 

The following points were noted: 

- Presentations to Members have taken place. 

- Community Consultations have taken place. 

- Huncoat FC to move to a football pitch in Great Harwood. 

- Community Liaison Officer to be recruited. 

- Some 24 hour working to take place. 

- Funding for a 2 year Highways Officer Post. 

- Additional 50 car parking for residents. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2.



 
 
 

 

 
257 

- Proposals on reducing the speed limit on Burnley Road to 30mph. 

 

 

An update sheet was circulated in the meeting and 7 additional points relating to the 

draft conditions were discussed from Lancashire County Council. An additional 

condition had been requested from Hyndburn Borough Council to ensure that any 

damage arising to the bridge of Plantation Road over the duration of the 

development is made good.  

 

 

 Resolved – (1) That subject to the applicant first entering into a legal 

agreement under s.106 covering the matters set out in the 

report AND subject to the conditions set out in the report, the 

Planning application is approved and that delegated authority 

is given to the Chair of Planning and Highways to complete 

the drafting of the conditions attached.  

 

(2) That the reduced speed limit of 30mph on Burnley Road is 

fully supported by the Council to become a permanent fixture 

not for the duration of the works to be completed. 

 

(3)  That delegated authority is given to the Chair of Planning and 

Highways to change the S.106 agreement if, following 

consultation with the applicant that any of the matters could 

be better managed through a condition or alternative legal 

agreement (such as a s.278).  

 

NB. 1 Mr James Cullen, spoke on behalf of United Utilities, the applicant.  

 

2. Cllr Lorraine Cox requested contact details for the Highways Officer involved. 

 
 
 
The rest of the Minutes of the Planning Committee held on the 1st November 2022 
were submitted for approval as a correct record. 
 
Resolved – That the Minutes be received and approved as a correct record.  
 

256 Town and Country Planning Act 1990- Planning Applications for Determination 
 

The Chief Planning and Transportation Officer submitted a report setting out 
recommended action on the following Planning applications.  
 
3A. 11/22/0438 – 29 Cecilia Street, Great Harwood, BB6 7BS 
 
Disabled facility to be constructed to the rear of the existing extension.  
 

Page 4



 
 
 

 

 
258 

This application had been submitted by Hyndburn Borough Council and being 
presented to Planning Committee for determination because the proposed 
extension would result in an extension that is longer than that supported by policy.  
 
The applicant proposed the erection of a single storey rear extension projecting 
from the rear end of the existing single storey rear extension. The application 
proposed the extension to project approximately 3.50 metres from the rear wall of 
the existing rear extension, which would give a total length of 9.50 metres.  
 
The committee discussed that all the dwellings on the south side of St Cecilia Street 
possess similar designs with long rear yards and felt it wouldn’t affect the 
neighbouring residents.  
 
The application does not comply with Policy, however, weight is given to the 
disabled needs of the occupants (whom have been assessed) and on this basis, it 
is supported.  
 
The committee discussed the following points; how the Council encourages 
residents to apply for assistance within their homes, that there is still sufficient 
spaces for the applicant’s bins within their property and that no objections had been 
received. 
 
Resolved – That the Planning application be approved with the attached 
conditions.  
 
 
3B. 11/20/0068 – Alliance Mill, Alliance Street, Baxenden, Accrington, BB5 2RT 
 
Development of 8no residential units for all matters apart from landscaping 
(resubmission 11/19/0046). 
 
The application site is a former scrapyard and is situated within the urban boundary 
in Baxenden.  
 
It was proposed to demolish the existing mill buildings and erect eight 4 bed 
detached two storey dwellings in a linear arrangement along the sites eastern 
boundary.  
 
A petition of support had been received in support of the application and had 67 
signatures.  
 
A new Flood Risk Assessment had been submitted and the committee talked at 
length regarding this section of the application due to the site suffering fluvial flood 
risks due to the presence of a culverted ordinary watercourse, which flows through 
the site. The Planning department are happy with the submission however if any 
changes were due to be made to the FRA a requirement for submission would have 
to be sent to the Council and Environment Agency.  
 
 

Page 5



 
 
 

 

 
259 

There were some concerns raised within the committee about the location but 
overall the committee were happy that it would improve the area.  
 
Resolved – That the Planning application is approved subject to the 
conditions attached to the report.  
 
NB. 1 Mr Hartley, representing the applicant, spoke in favour of the application.  
 

 
Signed:…………………………………………… 

 
Date: …………….………………………………………… 

 
Chair of the meeting 

At which the minutes were confirmed 
 

 

Page 6



Hyndburn Borough Council – Delegated Report 

 

Application Ref:    11/22/0404 

 

Application Address:   Land off Blackburn Old Road, Great Harwood, BB6 

7UU 

 

Full Application:   Outline application:  Erection of 7 No glamping pods 

and reception building including access and layout 

 

Date Registered:    29/09/2022 

 

Date for Decision:   18/10/2022 

 

Date Report Written:   23/01/2023 

 

HUMAN RIGHTS  

The relevant provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 and the European Convention 

on Human Rights have been taken into account in the preparation of this report, 

particularly the implications arising from the following rights:-  

 

Article 8  

The right to respect for private and family life, home and correspondence.  

 

Article 1 of Protocol 1  

The right of peaceful enjoyment of possessions and protection of property. 

 

Site and Proposal 

This planning application relates to a parcel of land located off Blackburn Old Road, 

outside of Great Harwood and within the designated Green Belt. The land is 

undeveloped and is surrounded by boundary hedgerows and trees. To the west of 

the site is Black Leach Farm. On the opposite (north) side of Blackburn Old Road is 

1-4 Black Leach. The site bounds the highway, Blackburn Old Road, along part of its 

northern boundary. 

 

Outline planning permission is sought including details of access and layout. The 

application proposes the erection of 7 camping pods in a linear arrangement. Access 

into the site would be taken on the corner of the junction between Blackburn Old 

Road and Limers Lane. On entry to the site it is proposed to erect a reception, 

maintenance and cycle store building and refuse store. Behind the reception building 

to the north-west would be the carpark which would provide 7no. parking spaces and 

a single staff parking space. From the car parking area, a footpath provide walkable 

access to each pod. Within the site to the north-east it is proposed to create a wildlife 

pond. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3.



 

Consultations 

 

Public Consultation: Objection letters have been received from 8 residential 

properties and raise the following concerns: 

 

 This is a rehash of the previous applications 11/19/0103 and 11/18/0345. The 

reasons for refusal of the first two applications have not changed. 

 The only chance is the reduced number of glamping pods from 10 to 7. 

 The entrance to the site is a ninety degree turn on the bend in the road. The 

road carries a lot of traffic, some of it fast-moving. There would be coming and 

going of cars from the site. 

 There are no footpaths on Blackburn Old Road. 

 Increase of risk of accident to pedestrians. 

 Incompatible with Green Belt status of the land and would result in a loss of 

openness. 

 Visual impact of the development unacceptable. 

 Environmental harm and damage to wildlife habitat 

 Increase in noise and smell (e.g. BBQs and partying. Whilst there will be 

management staff on site the applicant spends the majority of time out of the 

country. 

 The applicant mentions within their statement that they have proposed the site 

as part of the 'call for sites' process. This does not alter the fact that the site 

currently remains within the Green Belt and therefore the above process 

should carry very limited weight in any decision. 

 The proposed layout of the development spreads the proposed built form 

(reception/store building, car parking and cabins) across the full width of the 

application site. The scale of the proposed built form will inevitably harm the 

openness of the Green Belt, given that the site is currently an open field. 

 Whilst the applicant has attempted to screen the pods/cabin with new tree 

planting (though landscaping is a reserved matter within this application), this 

does not lessen the amount of development or its inappropriateness. It is 

inevitable that the built form would still be visible from views outside the site. It 

is also questionable whether new planting would mature sufficiently to provide 

any sort of substantial screening and whether the trees would be sufficiently 

managed and maintained in the future. 

 

HBC Environmental Health: No objections subject to planning conditions to prevent 

pollution during the construction phase and to ensure protection against landfill gas. 

 

LCC Highways: I have viewed the plans and the highway related documents 

submitted and I have the following comments to make: 

 

Page 8



With reference to the access details submitted; an amended drawing is required 

showing a 2.4m setback at the access with visibility splays for a 40mph road i.e. 

120m in either direction. 

 

Upon receipt of the information, I will then provide my highway comments. 

 

HBC Ecology: I object to the application for the following reasons: 

 

The application site forms a component of Site Great Harwood 093, which was 

surveyed by Hyndburn Borough Council in 2019 ‘Hyndburn Borough Council Habitat 

Survey 2019’.  Site 093, together with the “adjacent Great Harwood 014, could be 

considered under DWS Hm4 guidelines for large habitat mosaic.”  The application 

site therefore forms part of a wider picture of habitat of conservation value that most 

likely meets the standard for District Wildlife Site.  The survey recommended (ref site 

093) that it was “Desirable to retain whole area of semi-improved grassland, with its 

patches of wet grassland, swamp and scrub, and the network of hedgerows, ideally 

also along with the areas of improved pasture at the southern end of the site 

incorporating the adjacent Gt Harwood 014, as a large habitat mosaic, but seek to 

enhance quality of improved grassland (and semi-improved grassland) by 

appropriate conservation management.” 

 

The applicant has failed to submit sufficient information to enable the Local Planning 

Authority to discharge its duty under Section 40 of the Natural Environment and 

Rural Communities Act 2006.  The NERC Act places a legal duty on public bodies, 

including planning authorities, to ‘have regard’ to the conservation of biodiversity 

when carrying out their normal functions, which includes consideration of planning 

applications.  In compliance with Section 41 of the NERC Act, the Secretary of State 

has published a list of species and habitats considered to be of principal importance 

for conserving biodiversity in England under the UK Post-2010 Biodiversity 

Framework. This is known as the list of Habitats and Species of Principal Importance 

(HPI/SPI), of which there are 56 habitats and 943 species. The HPI/SPI list is used 

to guide planning authorities in implementing their duty under the NERC Act. 

 

The proposed development site is immediately adjacent (~150m distant) to an 

Amber Great Crested Newt Risk Zone.  Great Crested Newts are European 

Protected Species, and therefore are a Species of Principal Importance.  The 

proposed development site is known to contain an area of swamp.  The capacity of 

the swamp and other onsite habitats to host GCN and any other principal species 

has not been appraised through the submission of an Ecological Impact 

Assessment.  The fact that the application is an outline application does not rule out 

the LPAs lawful duty to consider the impact on EPS.  Please refer to the attached 

advice notice for planning decisions and European Protected Species.   

 

Page 9



Bats, also European Protected Species, are known to be present and roosting within 

the area of Site 093.  Although the application does not refer to trees that may felled, 

this possibility cannot be ruled out whereby the applicant has failed to submit an 

Ecological Impact Assessment or Arboricultural Impact Assessment.  A Preliminary 

Bat Roost Assessment is required for trees that may be felled.  As pointed out in 

prior applications (for the same site) a detailed assessment of the sewage outlet 

points directed through trees/hedge is required to adequately appraise the need for 

tree or hedge removal to accommodate such outfall.  The fact that the application is 

an outline application does not rule out the LPAs lawful duty to consider the impact 

on EPS.  Please refer to the attached advice notice for planning decisions and 

European Protected Species.   

 

HBC DM DPD Policy DM18 Protection and Enhancement of the Natural Environment 

Section 2d States “Development proposal likely to have an adverse effect on a 

District wildlife Site with biodiversity value of local importance will only be permitted if 

mitigation and enhancement measures can be provided to achieve a significant net 

gain in biodiversity.”  The application site, as part of site 093 and the adjacent site 

014, most likely meet the criterion set for DWS Hm4 for large habitat mosaic.  The 

application has failed to provide any evidence of mitigation, enhancement and 

Biodiversity Net Gain. 

 

The applicant must submit an Ecological Impact Assessment (CIEEM standard) that 

clearly describes the baseline ecological status of the site and mitigation measures 

necessary to achieve a significant Biodiversity Net Gain ie to ensure that the present 

status of the site is maintained and enhanced.  In the absence of such information 

the Local Planning Authority cannot adequately assess the ecological impact of the 

proposed development with regard to land of locally important conservation value, 

meeting the standard set for a District Wildlife Site. 

 

I strongly recommend that this application be refused on the grounds that the impact 

of development on an area locally important for conservation is unknown, and that 

potential impact on European Protected Species cannot be discounted beyond 

certainty.  Please refer to the attached advice notice for planning decisions and 

European Protected Species.  Where the LPA is not able to determine the impact on 

European Protected Species any such application, even an outline planning 

application, must be refused. 

 

For reference: 

 Ecological surveys for the presence or absence of European Protected species 

cannot be conditioned within a decision notice.  Please refer to the attached advice 

notice for planning decisions and European Protected Species. 

 

Page 10



The fact that the application is an outline application does not rule out the LPAs 

lawful duty to consider the impact on EPS.  Please refer to the attached advice 

notice for planning decisions and European Protected Species.   

 

United Utilities: We request that the applicant submits a plan outlining the proposed 

levels (including finished floor levels and ground levels) shown in metres above 

Ordnance Datum and an indicative foul and surface water drainage strategy 

(including cover and invert levels). It is our recommendation this information is 

submitted for our review so that any risk of sewer surcharge can be further 

assessed. The applicant should note that it may be necessary to raise finished floor 

and ground levels and/or include mitigation measures to manage the risk of sewer 

surcharge. 

 

Planning History 

Pre-application advice was sought in 2018 (ref 18.023) for ‘recreation and leisure 

purpose’ involving the siting of up to 10 glamping pods at the site. The advice mainly 

focused upon the impact of the development upon the openness of the Green Belt.  

The view taken was that the proposal would be inappropriate development in the 

Green Belt.  

 

An outline application was submitted (11/18/0345).  This was refused on the grounds 

that the proposal would constitute inappropriate development in the Green Belt and 

harm the openness of the development.  Officers did not believe that the applicant 

had demonstrated very special circumstances sufficient to outweigh the harm 

arising. 

 

A further outline application was submitted (11/19/0103) and refused in June 2019. 

 

Relevant Policies 

 

Hyndburn Core Strategy (CS) 

Policy BD1 The Balanced Development Strategy 

Policy Env1 Green Infrastructure 

Policy Env2 Natural Environment Enhancement 

Policy Env3 Landscape Character 

Policy Env6 High Quality Design 

Policy T2 Cycle and Footpath Networks 

 

Development Management Development Plan Document (DMDPD) 

Policy GC1 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

Policy DM1 Employment Development 

Policy DM17 Trees, Woodland and Hedgerows 

Policy DM18 Protection and enhancement of the Natural Environment 

Policy DM19 Protected Species 

Page 11



Policy DM26 Design Quality and Materials 

Policy DM29 Environmental Amenity 

Policy DM31 Waste management in all new development 

Policy DM32 Sustainable Transport, Traffic and Highway Safety 

Policy DM34 Development in the Green Belt and Countryside Area 

 

Material Considerations 

National Planning Policy Framework 

National Planning Policy Guidance 

 

Observations 

The main considerations in the determination of this application is the principle of 

development, impact of the development on the Green Belt, its visual appearance 

and impact on the landscape, the effect on residential amenity, traffic and highway 

safety and ecology and trees. 

 

Principle of Development 

Policy BD1 of the Core Strategy states that development within the rural area will be 

limited to that supporting farm diversification and promoting leisure and recreational 

facilities whilst retaining landscape character.  

 

Policy DM1 of the DMDPD (Section 6) states that the Council will support 

development proposals for small-scale office and employment developments in rural 

locations, including those for tourism and leisure developments, where they will 

assist in supporting a prosperous rural economy and are in accordance with policies 

DM34-36. 

 

The development is not proposed as farm diversification – it is a standalone tourism 

development and as such Policy DM35 of the DMDPD is not relevant in this case. 

Policy DM34 Section 7 aims to support proposals that enhance, promote or improve 

access to leisure and recreational facilities subject to development being in line with 

the criteria set out elsewhere in the Policy. 

 

Policy 34 sets out the local Green Belt policy. This matter, along with the visual and 

landscape impacts of the development, is considered below. 

 

Impact on the Green Belt 

The application site is located within the designated Green Belt. Policy DM34 of the 

DMDPD sets out the circumstances (1a-d) in which the erection of new buildings 

may be acceptable in the Green Belt. The proposed development is not required for 

the purpose of forestry or agriculture; it does not constitute limited infilling or 

redevelopment of a previously developed site; and it would not replace an existing 

building.  

 

Page 12



Paragraph 149 of the Framework states that the construction of new buildings in the 

Green Belt is inappropriate, subject to several exceptions.  

 

The term ‘building’ is defined in section 336 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

(1990) to include any structure or erection, and any part of a building, as so defined. 

The proposed reception, maintenance and cycle store building and refuse store are 

buildings under the s.336 definition. Whilst limited information has been provided in 

relation the construction of the pads or hard surfacing on which the pods would be 

placed, the Planning Supporting Statement submitted with the application states that 

‘the units [i.e. the pods] are permanently based upon the site and connected to all 

mains services’. It is considered that the proposed pods are of sufficient size, degree 

of permanence and physical attachment to the ground to be considered a building.  

 

One exception listed at paragraph 149 of the Framework is the provision of 

appropriate facilities for outdoor sport and outdoor recreation; as long as the facilities 

preserve the openness of the Green Belt and do not conflict with the purposes of 

including land within it.  

 

Some Inspectors have determined that the occupation of permanent or semi-

permanent structures for holiday accommodation does not represent ‘appropriate 

facilities’ for outdoor recreational activity. In this regard, it is considered that 

paragraph 149(b) of the Framework does not extend to buildings for visitor 

accommodation such as the proposed camping pods.  

 

Even if it was considered that the above exception was applicable in this case, 

paragraph 149 of the NPPF requires that facilities for outdoor recreation ‘preserve 

the openness of the Green Belt and do not conflict with the purposes of including 

land within it’.  

 

The proposed pods, reception, maintenance and cycle store building and refuse 

store would be permanent new buildings located in an open field location that is 

currently devoid of built form. They would result in a loss of openness in this Green 

Belt location. The development also includes engineering operations comprising the 

creation of hardstanding for the car park and footpaths which would further impact on 

openness. 

 

None of the other exceptions (a) to (g) of paragraph 149 of the NPPF apply to the 

development proposal. The proposed development is therefore considered to be 

inappropriate development in the Green Belt, which Paragraph 147 of the 

Framework states is harmful by definition and should not be approved except in very 

special circumstances (VSCs).  

 

The Government attaches great importance to Green Belts. The fundamental aim of 

Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open; the 

Page 13



essential characteristics of Green Belts are their openness and their permanence. 

Green Belt serves five purposes:  

 

a) to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas;  

b) to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another;  

c) to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;  

d) to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and  

e) to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and 

other urban land. 

 

It is acknowledged that the proposed number of pods at the site has been reduced 

from 10 to 7 when compared with previously refused applications. However, the 

proposal now also incorporates a new larger reception building. The proposed 

development would seriously alter the character of the land. Even though the north 

western boundary of the site is screened by high mature hedgerows which would 

largely hide the development from view from passers-by, it would be apparent that 

development exists there. Additionally, the residents of Black Leach Farm which is 

adjacent to the site would be able to view the proposal.  

 

The proposal would result in development where none existed before and would also 

generate vehicle movements by way of comings and goings. As a result, the 

proposal would have a significant effect on openness. Furthermore, the development 

would result in an unacceptable encroachment into the countryside and would 

therefore conflict with one of the purposes of Green Belt. The site access is 

approximately 200 metres from the Green Belt boundary around Great Harwood and 

as such the application site serves to safeguard against encroachment beyond the 

established urban area. 

 

The applicant has sought to diminish the importance of the Green Belt in this 

location. Reference is made to the Hyndburn Green Belt Assessment which has 

been produced to inform the emerging Hyndburn Local Plan 2037. The application 

site (Green Belt Parcel Reference 77 in the Green Belt Assessment) is assessed as 

making an overall ‘weak’ contribution towards the five purposes of Green Belt. It is 

however assessed as making a moderate contribution to safeguarding the 

countryside from encroachment. 

 

Notwithstanding this, the Hyndburn Green Belt Assessment is an evidence 

document only. It does not form part of the adopted development plan for the 

Borough. Section 6.3 of the Green Belt Assessment clearly states; 

 

‘The outcomes from the assessment do not mean that certain parcels should 

or should not be released from the Green Belt. Should the Council consider 

that Green Belt boundaries need to be altered, an exceptional circumstances 

case will need to be developed. The lower performing parcels have the 

Page 14



greatest potential to be considered for release, subject to other evidence in 

the site selection process. Higher performing Green Belt parcels can also be 

considered for release albeit a greater exceptional circumstances case will 

need to be made.’ 

 

Therefore, the Green Belt Assessment does not change the status of the application 

site as designated Green Belt and the Pre Submission (Reg.19) version of the Local 

Plan 2037 does not propose to amend the Green Belt boundary in this location.  

 

Paragraph 148 of the NPPF states that very special circumstances (VSCs) will not 

exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and 

any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other considerations. The applicant has not 

presented any VSCs. 

 

Having regard to all of the above, the proposal would constitute inappropriate 

development in the Green Belt that would have an unacceptable impact upon its 

openness. The economic benefits associated with the development would not 

outweigh the harm arising to the Green Belt and no very special circumstances have 

been demonstrated by the applicant. As such, the proposal is contrary to Policy 

DM34 of the Development Management DPD, Policy BD1 of the Hyndburn Core 

Strategy and the aims of the NPPF.   

 

Design and Visual Appearance 

The design element of this application have been reserved, however, it should be 

noted that any design should comply with Policy Env6 of the Hyndburn Core 

Strategy. The policy states that the character and quality of Hyndburn’s urban and 

rural environments will be conserved and enhanced through high quality design. 

New development will be expected to maintain and enhance local distinctiveness 

including the character and quality of both townscape and landscape. Paragraph 2c 

of Policy DM34 states that all proposals involving the development of new buildings 

in either Green Belt of Countryside area must be capable of being developed without 

adversely affecting the character of the rural landscape. Core Strategy Policy Env3 

states that  

 

‘The design of new development must be appropriate to the landscape 

character type within which it is situated and should contribute towards the 

conservation, enhancement, or restoration of landscape character or creation 

of appropriate new features. Landscape character will be protected and 

enhanced by: 

 

a) Ensuring that new development is well integrated with the existing 

settlement pattern, respecting the small scale dispersed pattern of farmsteads 

and clusters of buildings; 

Page 15



b) Maintaining and reinforcing a clear distinction between the urban edge and 

the rural areas; 

c) Restricting new development on the upper slopes of prominent hillsides 

and minimising the impact of development on prominent ridge and summit 

lines; 

d) Maintaining consistency of building materials, details and design; 

e) Encouraging the restoration of traditional field boundary walls and 

hedgerows, and; 

f) Encouraging the creation of new complementary landscapes in association 

with new developments.’ 

 

The site is located within National Character Area (NCA) 35: Lancashire Valleys and 

the Landscape Strategy for Lancashire identifies the surrounding landscape as 

‘Farmed Ridges’ that provide a mosaic of mixed farmland and woodland. From 

Blackburn Old Road the site would be relatively well-screened, with only fleeting 

views of the proposed buildings. There would however be close-up views from the 

adjacent  

restricted byway and longer distance views of the site from the south along Clinkham 

Road and other public footpaths from approximately 380 metres. 

 

The pods themselves would be single storey and appear to be constructed from 

natural materials. Whilst their form would not be reflective of local vernacular style, 

they would not be prominent additions in the landscape.  

 

However, the site entrance, access road and reception building appear to be 

suburban in nature. They would not harmonise well with the rural area. The 

requirement for a large reception building for a small-scale tourism development 

such as the one proposed is considered unnecessary. Whilst the development would 

not be seen in isolation given that it is well-related to an existing cluster of buildings, 

it is considered that the layout of the site is such that the development would not be 

sufficiently low key in this countryside area. As such, whilst the Core Strategy 

generally seeks to support small-scale tourism accommodation this should not be 

detrimental to the character and appearance of the countryside. It is considered 

therefore that the development proposals are contrary to policies Env3 and Env6 of 

the Core Strategy and Policy DM34 of the DMDPD. 

 

Impact upon Residential Amenity 

Concerns have been raised by residents regarding the potential for noise and 

disturbance. In terms of its impact on the residential amenity of nearby residents, the 

nearest residential properties are approximately 15 metres from the site boundary. 

Black Leach 1-4 are located on the opposite side of Blackburn Old Road with a 

mature hedgerow along the site’s facing boundary. To the south-west of the site, the 

side elevation of Black Leach Farm would face the development. The site layout is 

Page 16



such that the closest pod would be approximately 30 metres from residential 

properties. 

 

This arrangement would prevent direct and unrestricted views and would also 

provide some protection from associated noise and the Council’s Environmental 

Health Officer has raised no concerns. However, it is important that the site is 

managed in order to limit noise levels during certain hours. The location of the site 

within the open countryside where existing ambient noise levels can be very low 

means, therefore, that such activities can greatly impact on surrounding amenity. 

 

Should consent be granted, there would be a requirement for the submission of a 

site management plan setting out the site’s codes of conduct including limiting noise 

between 10pm to 8am and times when a member of staff would be present on site. 

Outside reception/office opening hours the site would be to some extent self-

regulating as guests would likely complain about noisy or unruly behaviour. It would 

be in the interests of the site owner to adequately deal with any complaints from 

guests quickly and effectively. 

 

Considering the above, subject to the site being managed in accordance with an 

agreed management plan it is considered that the use proposed would be unlikely to 

result in any undue noise and disturbance. 

 

Trees and Ecology 

In accordance with Core Strategy policies Env1 and Env2 and DMDPD policies 

DM18 it is necessary to ensure the development is well landscaped and that 

biodiversity net gain is achieved on the site.  

 

DMDPD Policy DM18 requires development proposals that are likely to have an 

adverse effect on a District Wildlife Site or Local Nature Reserve with biodiversity 

value of local importance to achieve a ‘significant net gain in biodiversity’. 

 

As set out in the Ecological Advisors comments, the application site was surveyed by 

Hyndburn Borough Council in 2019 as part of the ‘Hyndburn Borough Council 

Habitat Survey 2019’. It is clear that the site forms part of a wider area that is 

considered to be of ecological value with potential to support protected species. 

 

The Council’s Ecological Advisor has raised an objection as the applicant has failed 

to provide the appropriate ecology surveys and impact assessments. As such, the 

Local Planning Authority is unable to assess the impact of the development on 

biodiversity and protected species. 

 

DMDPD Policy DM17 seeks to avoid the loss of, and minimise the risk of harm to, 

existing trees, woodland, and/or hedgerows of visual or nature conservation value. 

Page 17



The applicant has also failed to provide sufficient information to assess the impact of 

the development on trees. 

 

Accordingly, the development is considered contrary to policies Env1 and Env2 of 

the Core Strategy and policies DM17, DM18 and DM19 of the DMDPD. 

 

Highway Safety 

The County Highways Officer has raised no objection to the application subject to 

the submission of an amended drawing showing a 2.4m setback at the access with 

visibility splays for a 40mph road (i.e. 120m in either direction). The parking shown 

within the site is sufficient to accommodate visitors. In the absence on an objection 

from the Local Highway Authority, it is considered that the development proposals 

are acceptable in terms of highway safety considerations. 

 

Conclusion 

Taking the above into the account, the application fails to address the identified 

issues and reasons for refusal of previous planning applications. The total number of 

pods proposed has been reduced from 10 to 7. However, the proposal would still 

constitute inappropriate development in the Green Belt that would have an 

unacceptable impact upon its openness and no very special circumstances have 

been demonstrated by the applicant.  

 

It is considered that the development proposals are contrary to policies Env3 and 

Env6 of the Core Strategy and Policy DM34 of the DMDPD insofar that the layout of 

the site is such that the development would not be sufficiently low key in this 

countryside area, providing a generously sized reception building and formalised 

entrance and access road arrangement that would cause some detriment to the 

character and appearance of the local area. 

 

Furthermore, the application is not supported with the necessary tree and ecology 

surveys. As such, the impact of the proposal on trees and ecology (including 

protected species) cannot be determined. 

 

It is recommended, therefore, that the application be refused. 

 

Recommendation:  

 

That permission in principle be REFUSED for the following reasons: 

 

1. The proposed development of glamping pods, roads and associated 

infrastructure would constitute inappropriate development in the Green Belt 

and harm the openness. The applicant has not demonstrated that very special 

circumstances exist that outweigh the harm arising. For these reasons, the 

Page 18



proposal is contrary to Policy DM34 of the Development Management DPD 

and the National Planning Policy Framework 

 

2. The proposed development, by virtue of its siting, form and design, would be 

harmful to the visual amenity and landscape character of the area contrary to 

policies Env3 and Env6 of the Hyndburn Core Strategy and Policy DM34 of 

the Hyndburn Development Management DPD. 

 
3. Insufficient evidence has been submitted to assess the potential impact of the 

development on biodiversity (including protected species) and trees, 

woodland and hedgerows. In the absence of such information therefore, the 

development is considered contrary to Hyndburn Core Strategy policies Env1 

and Env2 and Development Management DPD policies DM17, DM18 and 

DM19. 

 
 

 

 

Decision  

Approved + Conditions   

Informative Note(s)  

Refuse No. of reasons  

Date  

Signed  

 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Hyndburn Borough Council – Report for Planning Committee 

 

Application Ref:  11/22/0388 

 

Application Address: Land off Fort Street, Clayton-le-Moors, BB5 5PJ 

 

Full Application:  Full: Erection of 6 No. Bungalows 

 

Date Registered:  12/08/2022 

 

Date for decision:  04/10/2022 

 

Date Report Written:  12/01/2023 

 

Human Rights 

The relevant provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 and the European Convention on 

Human Rights have been taken into account in the preparation of this report, particularly the 

implications arising from the following rights. 

Article 8 

The right to respect for private and family life, home and correspondence. 

Article 1 of Protocol 1 

The right of peaceful enjoyment of possessions and protection of property. 

 

Site and Proposal 

The “L” shaped application site is located in the urban area of Clayton le Moore.  Although 

previously wooded, the trees have now been removed. The site is accessed from Fort 

Street, an unclassified road, subject to 20mph speed limit and privately maintained between 

no. 71 and 73 Grange Street. Surrounded on three sides by residential properties with a 

garage colony to the east, there is a public footpath runs along the northern boundary. The 

owner of no.71 Grange Street claims to have responsibility for Ford Street and has included 

the land in the site edged red.   

 

The site is located adjacent to the Mercer Park Conservation Area.   

 

The proposed development consists of six, 2 bed bungalows; four of which are located on 

the norther part of the site while two are sited to the rear of no.73 Grange Street and 80 to 

86 Pickup Street.   

 

The access road within the site 

would be privately owned with one 

parking space being provided per 

property; no provision is 

made for any visitor parking within 

the site. 

 

 

Page 21



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   Location Plan illustrating the development 

Consultations 

 

LCC Highways 

 

The applicant has agreed to bring Fort Street up to adoptable standards however the future 

maintenance is still outstanding. 

 

The future maintenance and management of Fort Street and the internal estate road should 

be covered by a maintenance agreement to ensure that the burden of future maintenance is 

adequate.  This can be covered by a planning condition.   

 

The driveway parking at plots 1,2,5 and 6 has been increased from 1 to 2 spaces and a 

turning head has been provided on the amended plan for cars to enter, turn and exit in 

forward gear.  The turning head is not large enough to accommodate the turning of latrger 

emergency and refuse vehicles.   

 

The proposed bin collection point should be re-sited to ensure that it does not block the site 

access road or individual plot driveways.  Subject to the bin collection point being relocated 

there are no objections to the proposal.   

 

Should planning permission be granted the following conditions are recommended 

(summarized): 

1. Construction Method Statement 

2. Construction traffic times 

3. Pre-commencement surveys of Fort Street and back Grange Street 

4. Details of construction of road 

5. Off site highway works 

6. Future maintenance and management of Fort Street and access. 

7. Boundary treatment 

8.  Parking spaces constructed using porous bound material 

9. Turning area unfenced. 

10. Cycle store for each dwelling 

Page 22



 

Envrionmental Health 

 
Prior to the commencement of development, the following information shall be submitted to 

the Local Planning Authority (LPA) for approval in writing:  

(a)  A desk study which assesses the risk of the potential for on-site contamination and 

ground gases and migration of both on and off-site contamination and ground gases.  

(b)  If the desk study identifies potential contamination and ground gases, a detailed site 

investigation shall be carried out to address the nature, degree and distribution of 

contamination and ground gases and shall include an identification and assessment 

of the risk to receptors as defined under the Environmental Protection Act 1990, Part 

2A, focusing primarily on risks to human health and controlled waters. The 

investigation shall also address the implications of the health and safety of site 

workers, of nearby occupied buildings, on services and landscaping schemes, and on 

wider environmental receptors including ecological systems and property. The 

sampling and analytical strategy shall be submitted to and be approved in writing by 

the LPA prior to the start of the site investigation survey.  

(c)  A remediation statement, detailing the recommendations and remedial measures to 

be implemented within the site.  

(d)  On completion of the development/remedial works, the developer shall submit written 

confirmation, in the form of a verification report, to the LPA, that all works were 

completed in accordance with the agreed Remediation Statement.  

Any works identified in these reports shall be undertaken when required with all remedial 

works implemented by the developer prior to occupation of the first and subsequent 

dwellings.  

REASON:  

To ensure that: - the site investigation and remediation strategy will not cause pollution of 

ground and surface waters both on and off site, and - the site cannot be capable of being 

determined as contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990, in 

accordance with: - the National Planning Policy Framework.   

 

HBC Ecology 

 

Up to 25 trees and a number of saplings have been recently removed from the site. Despite 

this it is considered that the land use remains unaltered and as a result the applicant is 

required to enter into an s106 agreement to compensate for the loss of the tree. It is also 

recommended that conditions be attached to any planning permission that may be granted. 

 

United Utilities 

 

No objection, subject to conditions 

 

LCC Fire officer 

 

Page 23



Any proposal should comply with the appropriate building regulations. 

 

Neigbouring representations 

 

No representations have been made concerning this application 

 

Relevant Planning History 

11/18/0160 FULL: ERECTION OF 6 NO BUNGALOWS (RESUBMISSION OF 11/17/0534). 

Approved with Conditions 14/01/2019  

17/0534 FULL: PROPOSED ERECTION OF SIX BUNGALOWS REFUSED 08/02/2018 

 

Relevant Policies 

 

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states that if regard is to 

be had to the Development Plan for the purpose of any determination to be made under the 

Planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material 

considerations indicate otherwise. 

 

The Development comprises plan: 

 

National Planning policy Framework 

 

Hyndburn Core Strategy 

Policy H1 

Policy BD1 

Policy Env6 

Policy Env7 

 

Development Management DPD 

Policy GC1 Presumption in favour of development 

Policy DM16 Housing Standards 

Policy DM17 Trees Woodland and Hedgerow 

Policy DM18 Protection and Enhancement of the Natural Environment 

Policy DM19 Protection of Species 

Policy DM24 Contamination or Unsuitable land and Storage of Hazardous Substances 

Policy DM26 Design Quality and Materials 

Policy DM29 Environmental Amenity 

 

Observations 

 

Procedural  

Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be determined in accordance 

with the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  The 

development plan comprises the Hyndburn Core Strategy and Development Management 

DPD, whilst the Householder Design Guide and NPPF are material considerations. 

 

Page 24



Principle of development 

 

The application site is an unallocated site located within the urban boundary in Clayton le 

Moors.  The principle of new residential development is acceptable on this site subject to 

providing the character, appearance and amenity of the surrounding area would not be 

adversely affected and the highway authority have not raised objection subject to a number 

of conditions being imposed.   

 

Housing mix 

 

Policy H1 of the Hyndburn Core Strategy aims for new housing development to provide a 

mix of house types based upon the following proportions: 

 

Detached 26% 

Semi-detached 49% 

Terraced 5% 

Bungalows 8% 

Flats 12% 

 

The aim of the policy is to balance local housing markets by increasing the variety of housing 

stock in Hyndburn. The proposal would provide 6 no. 2 bed bungalows detached properties 

which would add to the mix of housing in the Borough in terms of type and therefore the 

proposal meets with the provisions of this policy in this respect. 

 

Scale, siting and design 

 

Policy Env6 of the Hyndburn Core Strategy seeks to ensure that the character and quality of 

Hyndburn’s urban and rural environments will be conserved and enhanced through high 

quality design. Policy DM 10 of the DM DPD has similar objectives. 

 

The six bungalows are of an appropriate scale in this location. The materials to be used 

would be modern in appearance and include a mixture of artificial coursed stone to the front 

elevation and render to the rear. Roof materials are proposed to be smooth grey concrete 

tiles which are out of keeping with the immediate area and given the close proximity to the 

conservation area. If approved a condition should be attached to any planning permission 

requiring the applicant to submit materials to be used in the development and they should be 

approved prior to the development commencing. If this were to be done the proposed 

development would be considered to be acceptable in terms of its design and materials to be 

used. The application therefore complies with Hyndburn Core Strategy Policy Env6 and 

Policy DM26 of the Development Management DPD.   

 

Residential Amenity 

 

Policy Env7 of the Hyndburn Core Strategy states that proposals for new development will 

only be permitted if it does not result in unacceptable adverse impacts through (amongst 

other things), noise, overlooking and loss of light. This is supported by paragraph 17 of the 

Page 25



NPPF. In addition, DM29 of the DM DPD and Design Guidance 3 of the Householder Design 

Guide SPD gives guidance on minimum separation distances; they are 21m between 

elevations with windows of habitable rooms and 12m between a habitable room and a blank 

gable wall. 

 

It is noted that the nearest proposed dwellings to the four bungalows (1, 2,3 and 4) on the 

northern part of the site are themselves bungalows and located on the opposite side of the 

public footpath which runs between the two sets of dwellings.  Although the separation 

distance between the two sets of properties would be some 10m, given that the boundary of 

public footpath is enclosed either side by a two meter high fence, there is unlikely to be any 

adverse impact on the privacy of either occupiers. This being the case the proposed 

development on the northern part of the site complies with Policy DM29 of the DM DPD. 

 

The bungalows on the southern boundary of the application site (no. 5 and 6) back onto a 

rear alley way beyond which is a row of two storey terraced houses which themselves front 

onto Pickup Street. 

 

The site has an area of some 1,200sqm and because of the limited space available for 6 

bungalows it would result in separation distance between the rear elevations of the two sets 

of properties of only some 13m. The Council’s Household Design Guide and Policy DM29 of 

the DM DPD require a separation distance of at least 21m between facing windows of 

habitable rooms and would have an unacceptable level of privacy and be overlooked from 

the properties on Pickup Street and are therefore contrary to Policy DM29 and Guidance 

Note 3 of the Council’s Household Design 

Guide. 

 

The applicant has in support of the current application highlighted the development for 12 

dwellings on an adjacent site by Mr Ogden (11/14/0124). In this instance the proposed 

dwellings were at their nearest point some 12m from the houses on Grange Street. The 

report went onto state that given the single storey scale of the dwellings and the 1.8m high 

wall at this boundary, this is considered a sufficient separation distance to protect the 

amenity of the occupiers of the neighbouring properties. In light of the above planning 

application and the fact that the current proposal would include a 1.8m high close boarded 

fence some 3m from the rear of bungalows 5 and 6 on balance, it is considered that there 

would be no issues of overlooking and as such the proposed development in this instance is 

acceptable. 

 

The Council’s Environmental Health Officer has requested if planning permission is granted 

that a contamination survey be submitted and agreed prior to the commencement of 

development, and any required remediation works to be carried out. 

 

 

 

Highway matters 

 

Page 26



Policy Env7 of the Hyndburn Core Strategy aims to avoid development which has an 

unacceptable adverse impact by reason of traffic. Policies DM29 and DM32 of the DM DPD 

have similar aims. Lancashire County Highways has been consulted following extensive 

discussions submitted revised comments on 4 July 2018 which states that: 

 

“The applicant has agreed to bring Fort Street up to adoptable standards however the future 

maintenance is still outstanding. Fort Street is a highway first and foremost and therefore the 

works to bring it to adoptable standards would be off-site highway works for the purposes of 

the planning condition.  

 

The future maintenance and management of Fort Street and the internal estate road should 

be covered by a maintenance agreement to ensure that the burden of future maintenance is 

adequate. The existing and future maintenance would fall to the street frontages number 71 

and 73 Grange Street. The current and potential future occupiers of these properties should 

not be wholly responsible for the maintenance of Fort Street.   

 

It is noted that the corner of the rear of plot 5 has been removed to maintain” 

 

In light of this the proposal is acceptable subject to the planning conditions recommended 

and complies with Env7 of the Core Strategy, and DM29 DM32 and GN8 of the DM DPD. 

 

Trees and landscaping 

 

Policy Env2 of the Core Strategy and Policy DM17 requires opportunities for environmental 

enhancement to be secured; this is supported by the provisions of the 

NPPF. 

 

The Council’s Ecologist has been considered on the proposal and states that 

 

“The woodland at the application site has been felled during March and April 2018. 

 

25 trees and a considerable number of saplings have been removed. 

 

The ecology comments for 17/0534 must be a material consideration for 18/0160 and have 

therefore been included with these comments. The comments made for 17/0534 remain 

valid and form an explicit component of this response. 

 

It could be viewed that the applicant has purposefully removed the woodland in order to gain 

an advantage to securing planning permission, and to avoid the potential costs of providing 

compensation for the loss of woodland. 

 

Despite the removal of woodland, the land use remains unaltered ie woodland. In this 

respect the requirement for the provision for a S106 agreement to compensate for the loss of 

woodland remains unaltered as does the specific need for conditions to take into account the 

loss of biodiversity. 

 

Page 27



The S106 calculation and conditions are provided below. 

 

The cost of creating 1HA new woodland using Woodland Trust figures is £4,800 broadleaf 

key priorities woodland. At 3:1 replacement ie 6,900msq = £3,312.” 

 

Other concerns 

 

LCC Fire Officer has been consulted and while the road lay out of the proposed 

development does not comply with the necessary access requirements of the Building 

Regulations as it does not provide the necessary turning circle for a fire appliance, mitigation 

measures in the form of a fire hydrant in front of plots 5 and 6 have been introduced into the 

layout which meets their requirements. These are matters that are covered by Building 

Regulations and not within the jurisdiction of this planning application. 

 

Conclusion 

 

The application proposing the erection 6 bungalows on the land off Fort Street would fall 

within guidance and policies from the Hyndburn Core Strategy, Development Management 

DPD and the National Planning Policy Framework.  Therefore it is recommended that 

permission be granted for the proposed development, subject first to the applicant entering 

into a legal agreement under s.106 of the Act to compensate for the loss of woodland and 

subject to the following conditions.   

 

Recommendation 

 

1. That delegated authority be given to the Chief Planning and Transportation Officer to 

make changes to the wording of the conditions if necessary.  

 

2. That planning permission be granted subject first to the applicant entering into a s106 

agreement requiring the payment of £3,312 for the planting of replacement trees, and 

subject to the following conditions:  

 

1-  The development hereby approved shall be commenced before the expiration of 

three years from the date of this permission. 

 

Reason: To ensure that the Local Planning Authority retains the right to review 

unimplemented permissions and to comply with Section 91 (as amended) of the 

Town & Country Planning Act 1990. 

 

2- The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following documents 

unless otherwise required by the conditions below: 

(a) The planning application form and additional information received by Hyndburn 

Council on 12 August 2022.  

(b) Submitted Drawing Nos. 1091-01, 1091-01 Rev D, 1091-02 Rev D, 1091-03 Rev 

B, 1091-04 Rev A, 1091-05 Rev B, 1091-06 Rev B, 1091-07, 1091-08, 1091-102 Rev 

B, 1091-103 Rev B, 1091-105, 1091-106 and 1091-001 received 12 August 2022. 

Page 28



 

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to enable Hyndburn Borough Council to 

adequately control the development and to minimise its impact on the amenities of 

the local area and to conform with Policies Env6 & Env7 of the Hyndburn Core 

Strategy. 

 

3- No development shall commence until details for the installation of 1 building 

integrated terraced Sparrow nest box and 2 building integrated Bat box has been 

submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall 

include the manufacturer’s specification and plans marking the location of installation 

in accordance with the manufacturer’s instructions. The work described shall be 

carried out strictly in accordance with the approved details and shall be retained in 

this manner thereafter. 

 

Reason: To ensure that bird and bat species are protected and their habitat 

enhanced, in accordance with Circular 06/05, Wildlife and Countryside Act1981 (as 

amended) and Conservation (Natural Habitats, &c.) Regulations 1994 and to accord 

with Policy Env2 of the Hyndburn Core Strategy, DM18 and DM19 of the DM DPD 

and NPPF. 

 

4- Notwithstanding drawing no. 1091-104, No development shall commence until a 

satisfactory programmed landscaping scheme which shall include hard surfacing, 

means of enclosure, planting of the development, shall be submitted to and approved 

in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The content of the planting scheme shall 

include the number of plants, species, planting size, planting methodology, British 

Standards and location of the planting. The work described in the scheme shall be 

carried out strictly in accordance with the approved details and shall be retained in 

this manner thereafter. The approved scheme shall be implemented during the first 

planting season following the completion of development and any tree or shrub 

planted which dies or is felled, uprooted, wilfully damaged or destroyed in the first 

five year period commencing with the date of planting shall be replaced by the 

applicants or their successors in title. 

 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory form of development and enhance the 

visual amenities of the locality, and in order to comply with policy Env7 of the 

Hyndburn Core Strategy and DM29 of the DM DPD.  

 

5- No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a 

construction method statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 

Local Planning Authority. The approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the 

construction period. It shall provide for: 

i)  The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors 

ii)  The loading and unloading of plant and materials 

iii)  The storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development 

iv)  The erection and maintenance of security hoarding 

v)  Wheel washing facilities 

Page 29



vi)  Measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction 

vii)  A scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and 

construction works 

viii)  Details of working hours 

ix)  Routing of delivery vehicles to/from site 

x)  Measures to protect pedestrians on public footpath 13 

 

Reason: To ensure that the proposed building works do not adversely affect the 

highway in the interests of highway safety and to comply with Env7 of the Hyndburn 

Core Strategy and Policy DM29 of the DM DPD. 

 

6- The HGV construction traffic movements shall not occur before 9.30 or between 2.30 

– 3.30pm Mon-Friday during school term time. 

 

Reason: In the interests of highway and pedestrian safety and to comply with Policy 

Env7 of the Hyndburn Core Strategy and DM29, DM 32 and GN8 of the DM DPD. 

 

7- Pre-commencement and post development photographic surveys shall be completed 

by the developer and submitted to the LPA and approved in writing for the Fort Street 

and back Grange Street. 

i)  The pre-commencement survey shall be submitted prior to works 

commencing on site. 

ii)  The post development survey shall be submitted within one month of the 

completion of the development or prior to the occupation of the final dwelling 

on the site, whichever is the earlier.  

 

The post development survey shall include a scheme and timetable to identify and 

subsequently reinstate any damage at the cost of the developer. 

 

Reason: To ensure that satisfactory arrangements are in place for the proper 

restoration and management of the highway in the interest of highway safety and to 

comply with HC3 and Env7 of the Hyndburn Core Strategy and DM29 of the DM 

DPD. 

 

8- No development shall be commenced until full engineering, drainage, street lighting 

and constructional details to adoptable standards (LCC specification) of the internal 

estate road have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. The development shall, thereafter, be constructed in accordance with the 

approved details, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning 

Authority. 

 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to ensure that satisfactory 

arrangements are in place for future management and maintenance of the proposed 

street within the development and to comply with HC3 and Env7 of the Hyndburn 

Core Strategy and DM29 of the DM DPD. 

 

Page 30



9- Prior to the commencement of development the off-site highway works shall be 

submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority and implemented prior to 

the first occupation of any dwelling. The works shall include the re-construction of 

Fort Street to adoptable standards (LCC specification) including road surfacing, 

kerbing, surface water drainage and street lighting. 

 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to ensure that satisfactory 

arrangements are in place for future management and maintenance of the proposed 

street within the development and to comply with HC3 and Env7 of the Hyndburn 

Core Strategy and DM29 of the DM DPD. 

 

10- Prior to the commencement of development details of the proposed arrangements for 

future management and maintenance of the Fort Street and the proposed street 

within the development have been submitted to and approved by the local planning 

authority.  The streets shall thereafter be maintained in accordance with the 

approved management and maintenance details until such time as an agreement has 

been entered into under section 38 of the Highways Act 1980 or a private 

management and Maintenance Company has been established.   

 

In the event that the highways are not maintained under section 38 of the Highways 

Act 1980, prior to the occupation of the dwellings details of the means by which the 

highways will be maintained in perpetuity shall be submitted to, and approved in 

writing, by the Local Planning Authority.   

 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to ensure that satisfactory 

arrangements are in place for future management and maintenance of the proposed 

street within the development and to comply with HC3 and Env7 of the Hyndburn 

Core Strategy and DM29 of the DM DPD. 

 

11- The boundary treatment along back Grange Street shall be kept below 1 metre along 

plot 1 and 5 to ensure adequate visibility at the site access and for drivers 

manoeuvring at the driveways of plots 1 and 5 and pedestrians on the back street. 

 

Reason: In order to ensure that there is adequate visibility in the interests of highway 

safety and in order to comply with Policy Env7 of the Hyndburn Core Strategy and 

DM29, DM 32 and GN8 of the DM DPD. 

 

12- The parking spaces shall be constructed in accordance with the approved drawing 

and laid in a porous bound material prior to the first occupation of the dwellings. 

 

Reason: In order to ensure that there is adequate car parking provision clear of the 

public highway in the interests of highway safety and in order to comply with Policy 

Env7 of the Hyndburn Core Strategy and DM29, DM 32 and GN8 of the DM DPD. 

 

13- The turning area shall remain unfenced along the boundaries of the back streets 

unless otherwise approved in writing by the local planning authority. 

Page 31



 

Reason: In order to ensure an adequate and safe turning area in the interests of 

highway safety and in order to comply with Policy Env7 of the Hyndburn Core 

Strategy and DM29, DM 32 and GN8 of the DM DPD. 

 

14- Each dwelling shall have an electric vehicle charging point prior to first occupation. 

 

Reason: In the interest of providing sustainable modes of transport and to comply 

with DM32 of the DM DPD. 

 

15- The four parking spaces identified as “V” on drawing no. 1091-106 Rev A shall be 

laid out and provided for visitors to the dwellings on Plots 1 to 6 and be permanently 

retained thereafter. 

 

Reason: In order to ensure that there is adequate visitor car parking provision clear 

of the public highway in the interests of highway safety and in order to comply with 

Policy Env7 of the Hyndburn Core Strategy and DM29, DM 32 and GN8 of the DM 

DPD. 

 

16- The bin collection point identified on drawing 1091 – 102 Rev D shall be laid out and 

permanently retained for the collection of bins. 

 

Reason: In order to ensure that there is adequate bin collection clear of the highway 

in the interests of highway safety and in order to comply with Policy Env7 of the 

Hyndburn Core Strategy and DM29, DM 32 and GN8 of the DM DPD. 

 

17- Prior to the occupation of the development a sustainable drainage management and 

maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development shall be submitted to the local 

planning authority and agreed in writing. The sustainable management and drainage 

plan shall include as a minimum; 

 

a. Arrangements for the adoption by an appropriate public body or statutory 

undertaker, or, management and maintenance by a residents management 

company; and 

b.  Arrangements for inspection and ongoing maintenance of all elements of the 

sustainable drainage system to secure the operation of the surface water 

drainage scheme throughout its lifetime. 

 

The development shall subsequently be completed, maintained and managed in 

accordance with the approved plan. 

 

Reason: To ensure that management arrangements are in place for the sustainable 

drainage system in order to manage the risk of flooding and pollution during the 

lifetime of the development. 

 

Page 32



18- Construction works & associated deliveries (during construction) shall be restricted to 

between 0800 and 1800hrs Monday to Friday and 0800 and 1300 on Saturdays. 

Works shall not take place on Sundays and bank holidays. All works shall be 

undertaken in accordance with BS5228:2009. 

 

Reason: To ensure that site working only takes place during normal working hours in 

order to restrict the times during which any disturbance and nuisance may arise in 

order to accord with Core Strategy Policy Env7 and the NPPF. 

 

19- Prior to the commencement of development, the following information shall be 

submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval in writing: 

 

a)  A desk study which assesses the risk of the potential for on-site contamination 

and ground gases and migration of both on and off-site contamination and 

ground gases. 

b)  If the desk study identifies potential contamination and ground gases, a 

detailed site investigation shall be carried out to address the nature, degree 

and distribution of contamination and ground gases and shall include an 

identification and assessment of the risk to receptors as defined under the 

Environmental Protection Act 1990, Part 2A, focusing primarily on risks to 

human health and controlled waters. The investigation shall also address the 

implications of the health and safety of site workers, of nearby occupied 

buildings, on services and landscaping schemes, and on wider environmental 

receptors including ecological systems and property. The sampling and 

analytical strategy shall be submitted to and be approved in writing by the 

LPA prior to the start of the site investigation survey. 

c)  A remediation statement, detailing the recommendations and remedial 

measures to be implemented within the site. 

d)  On completion of the development/remedial works, the developer shall submit 

written confirmation, in the form of a verification report, to the LPA, that all 

works were completed in accordance with the agreed Remediation Statement. 

Any works identified in these reports shall be undertaken when required with all 

remedial works implemented by the developer prior to occupation of the first and 

subsequent dwellings. 

 

Reason: To ensure that the site investigation and remediation strategy will not cause 

pollution of ground and surface waters both on and off site, and the site cannot be 

capable of being determined as contaminated land under Part 2A of the 

Environmental Protection Act 1990, in accordance with Policy DM24 of the DM DPD 

and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

20- Prior to the commencement of development a satisfactory programme of boundary 

treatment shall be submitted to and approved in writing to the Local Planning 

Authority. The approved scheme shall be implemented prior to the occupation of the 

first dwelling herby approved and shall be retained thereafter. 

 

Page 33



Reason: To ensure a satisfactory form of development and to ensure the visual 

amenities of the locality in order to comply with Policy Env7 of the Hyndburn Core 

Strategy and DM29 of the DM DPD.   

 

Informative notes 

1. 13a 

2. 14 

3. 15 

4. 16 

5. 17 

6. 18 

Page 34



Hyndburn Borough Council   

 

Report For:     Planning Committee  

 

Report Title:     Site Visits 

 

Date of Report:    February 2023 

 

1. Purpose of Report 

 

1.1 To recommend that members undertake a site visit to view a number of sites where 

planning applications have been submitted and which will be determined by Planning 

Committee.   

 

2. Background 

 

2.1 When determining planning applications it is important that members of Planning 

Committee understand the nature of the site that is the subject of the planning 

application and the impacts of the proposed development.  Although officers prepare 

a presentation for Planning Committee that includes details of the proposed 

development and photographs of the site, there are times when officers recommend 

a site visit be made by Planning Committee so that members of Committee can see 

the site for themselves.   

 

2.2 There are a number of planning applications that will be presented to the February 

and/or March 2023 meetings of Planning Committee where officers believe a site visit 

would be beneficial.   

 

2.3 A number of planning applications have been submitted for a change of use of a 

residential property to a care home, use class C3a to Use Class C2.  There have 

been requests made members for a number of these applications to be determined 

by Planning Committee.  The applications raise issues in relation to their location in 

residential areas.  The reports, when available, will set out the issues associated with 

each development in more detail.   

 

2.4 The planning application for the development of a leisure centre at Wilsons Playing 

Fields in Clayton-Le-Moors has also been submitted.  This is a major planning 

application and it is also recommended that members visit the site of this proposed 

development before considering the matter at Planning Committee.   

 

2.5 Given the nature of the sites and their various locations, it is recommended that a 

mini-bus is used to transport members to and from the sites.  The site visit(s) should 

take place after the publication of the relevant report, but before the meeting where 

the application is to be considered.   

 

 

Page 35

Agenda Item 4.



3.0 Recommendation 

 

3.1 It is therefore recommended that members of Planning Committee undertake a site 

visit for the following planning applications prior to their determination:  

 

 Application 1 

Application Ref:   11/22/0494 

Application Address:   25 Three Brooks Way Oswaldtwistle BB5 3QZ 

Description of Development:   FULL: Change of use class from C3(a) to C2 

 

 Application 2 

Application Ref:   11/22/0495 

Application Address:   27 Three Brooks Way Oswaldtwistle BB5 3QZ 

Description of Development:   FULL: Change of use class from C3(a) to C2 

 

 Application 3 

Application Ref:     11/22/0487 

Application Address:     100 Thwaites Road Oswaldtwistle BB5 4QU 

Description of Development:   FULL: Change of Use from C3(a) to C2 

 

 Application 4 

Application Ref:   11/22/0488 

Application Address:   30 Epping Avenue Altham BB5 5DR 

Description of Development:  FULL: Change of use from dwelling Class C3(a) 

to a residential institution Class C2 

 

 Application 5 

Application Ref:     11/22/0495 

Application Address:     26 Waverley Road Accrington BB5 2TT 

Description of Development:   FULL: Change of from C3 (dwelling) to C2 

(Children’s Care Home) 

 

 Application 6 

 Application Ref:   11/23/0055 

Application Address: Wilsons Playing Fields, Clayton-Le-Moors, 

Accrington 

Description of Development: Demolition of the existing clubhouse and 

construction of a new leisure centre with 

associated storage, car-parking and 

landscaping.   

 

 

 

Page 36


	Agenda
	2. Minutes of the Last Meeting
	3. Town and Country Planning Act 1990- Planning Applications for Determination
	11.22.0388 Committee Report

	4. Planning Committee Site Visits

